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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the
Eastern District of Tennessee
United States of America

)
)
)

V.

Leslie Bethea

)

Case No.
2:22-MJ- \ \

d..

)
)
)
Def endant(s)

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.
3/30/21 to 5/31/21

On or about the date(s) of
Eastern

District of

Code Section
18 U.S .C. 1343
18 U.S.C. 1956(a)
18 U.S .C. 1001

Tennessee

in the county of

Greene and elsewhere

in the

, the defendant(s) violated :

Offense Description
Wire fraud (one count)
Money laundering (three counts)
False statement (three counts)

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:
See attached affidavit.

0 Continued on the attached sheet.

SSA Thomas Whitehead, U.S . Secret Service
Printed name and title

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

Date:

City and state:

Greeneville , Tennessee
Printed name and title
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UNITED STATES DISTRJCT COURT
EASTERN DISTRJCT OF TENNESSEE
AT GREENEVILLE
UNITED STATES OF AMERJCA
V.

LESLIE BETHEA

)
) No. 2:22-MJ)
) Judge Wyrick
)
)
)

\ \~

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT AFFIDAVIT
I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge
and belief:

CRIMES ALLEGED:
I am providing the facts below to demonstrate that probable cause exists to arrest LESLIE
BETHEA for the following federal offenses: wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, money
laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a) (three counts) and making a false statement in
violation of 18 U.S .C. § I 001 (three counts). These offenses took place between on or about
March 1, 2021, through on or about June 1, 2021, in the Eastern District of Tennessee, the
Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere. The specific offenses of federal law are more fully
described as follows:

COUNT ONE
(Wire Fraud; 18 U.S.C. § 1343)
On or about March 30, 2021, in the Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere, the
defendant, LESLIE BETHEA, devised or intending to devise any scheme or mtifice to defraud,
and for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations,
or promises, transmitted or caused to be transmitted by means of wire in interstate or foreign
commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such
1
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scheme or artifice; that is, knowingly and intentionally devising a scheme or artifice to obtain the
money and property of the persons and institutions described below by means of fraudulent
application for and obtaining by false and fraudulent misrepresentations and pretenses a Small
Business Administration Payroll Protection Program (herein "PPP") Loan from Capital Plus
Financial, a lending institution located in Bedford, Texas and, by doing so, did transmit or cause
to be transmitted by means of wire in interstate commerce any writings, signs, signals, pictures,
or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice.

MANNER AND MEANS
It was paii of the scheme that LESLIE BETHEA formulated a plan that, among other
things, included the following:
1. LESLIE BETHEA would provide materially false and fraudulent information on loan
application documents to obtain by fraudulent means a Small Business Administration
PPP Loan.
2. LESLIE BETHEA would transmit false and fraudulent documents for the purpose of
obtaining the PPP Loan.
3. LESLIE BETHEA would obtain one or more PPP Loans based on the fraudulent
application and documents she submitted, thereby resulting in the deposit of the proceeds
from the fraudulently obtained PPP Loan into one or more bank accounts that LESLIE
BETHEA controlled.
4. LESLIE BETHEA would then travel outside the Eastern District of Tennessee and use
the fraudulently obtained PPP Loan proceeds to engage in one or more financial
transactions to pay for personal expenses including, without limitation, elective cosmetic
surgical procedures.

2
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OVERT ACTS
In furtherance of the scheme outlined above, LESLIE BETHEA committed the following
overt acts, among others in the Eastern District of Tennessee and elsewhere from March 2021
through May 2021 :
1. On or about March 30, 2021, LESLIE BETHEA applied for a Small Business
Administration PPP Loan with Capital Plus Financial through their online servicing
company, Blue Acorn, a lender servicing company for small businesses with servicing
locations that are located in the states oflowa and South Carolina. Blue Acorn maintains
no servicing locations in the state of Tennessee.
2. Pursuant to the electronic application described above, LESLIE BETHEA requested the
issuance of a PPP Loan in the amount of $20,805.
3. As part of the electronic application described above, LESLIE BETHEA affirmed that
"the information provided in this application and the information provided in all
supporting documents and fonns is true and accurate in all material respects." LESLIE
BETHEA further affirmed that she understood "that knowingly making a false statement
to obtain a guaranteed loan from SBA is punishable under the law, including under 18
U.S.C. 1001 and 3571 by imprisonment of not more than five years and/or a fine ofup to
$250,000; under 15 U .S.C. 645 by imprisonment of not more than two years and/or a fine
of not more than $5,000; and, if submitted to a federally insured institution, under 18
U.S.C. 1014 by imprisonment of not more than thirty years and/or a fine of not more than
$1,000,000."
4. On the electronic application described above, LESLIE BETHEA fraudulently stated that
she was a sole proprietor of a marketing consulting services business that grossed
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$99,865.00 a year, when, in truth and fact and as she well knew, LESLIE BETHEA had
no business that grossed that sum.
5. On the electronic application, LESLIE BETHEA fraudulently stated that within the last
five years, she had not been convicted, pied guilty to, or commenced any form of parole
or probation for fraud when, in truth and fact and as she well knew, LESLIE BETHEA
pied guilty to and was convicted of conspiracy to commit wire fraud and wire fraud on
September 26, 2019, in the federal case styled, United States v. Leslie Danielle Bethea,
No. 2: 18-CR-25 (E.D. Tenn.), and she was actively serving a term of supervised release
for that conviction at the time of the electronic application.
6. As part of the electronic application, LESLIE BETHEA submitted a false and fraudulent
Internal Revenue Service Schedule C for tax year 2019 showing that LESLIE BETHEA
earned a profit of $90,621 as a sole proprietor in marketing when, in truth and fact and as
she well knew, LESLIE BETHEA did not earn a profit in that amount for tax year 2019.
7. As part of the electronic application, LESLIE BETHEA submitted a copy of her issued
Tennessee driver's license ending in 5617 as proof of her identity.
8. Based on the electronic application and false and fraudulent misrepresentations described
above, LESLIE BETHEA caused a PPP Loan in the amount of $20,805 to be issued to
her, with the proceeds of that loan being deposited into LESLIE BETHEA' s banking
account with Knoxville TV A Employees Credit Union ("Knoxville TVA ECU") located
in Knoxville, Tennessee. The loan proceeds were deposited into that account in
Knoxville, Tennessee on April 15, 2021.
9. LESLIE BETHEA then used the illegally obtained funds to make numerous purchases for
personal items and expenses, including, without limitation, travel to Aventura, Florida
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where she obtained an elective cosmetic surgical procedure.
All in violation of 18 U.S.C . § 1343.

COUNTS TWO TO FOUR
(Money Laundering; 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a))
On or about the dates set forth in the table below in the Eastern District of Tennessee, the
Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant, LESLIE BETHEA, did knowingly
conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction as described in the table below affecting
interstate and foreign commerce, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity,
that is, the proceeds of wire fraud in violation of 18 U .S.C. § 1343 as alleged in count one,
above, with the intent to promote the carrying on of said specified unlawful activity and knowing
that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location,
source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful activity and that while
conducting and attempting to conduct the financial transaction knew that the property involved
in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity:

COUNT

DATE

FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION

FINANCIAL TRANSACTION

2

April 22,
2021

Knoxville TVA
ECU

$5,000 access device payment to Dolls Plastic
Surgery in Aventura, Florida from Knoxville
TVA ECU Share Account ending in 5763

3

April 24,
2021

Knoxville TV A
ECU

$500 access device payment to Dolls Plastic
Surgery in Aventura, Florida from Knoxville
TVA ECU Share Account ending in 5763

4

April 29,
2021

Knoxville TVA
ECU

$2,834.22 access device payment to Trump
International Beach Resort in Sunny Isles Beach,
Florida from Knoxville TVA ECU Share Account
ending in 5763

5
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COUNTS FIVE TO SEVEN
(False Statement; 18 U.S.C. § 1001)
Between on or about May 5, 2021, and May 20, 2021, at Greeneville, Tennessee in the
Eastern District of Tennessee LESLIE BETHEA did willfully and knowingly submit her
monthly supervision report for the month of April 2021 and did then and there make the
materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement and representation set forth in the table
below in a matter within the jurisdiction of the judicial branch of the Government of the United
States.

COUNT

STATEMNET

REASON STATEMENT WAS FALSE

4

That LESLIE BETHEA had
only $200 of cash inflows for the
month of April 2021

Receipt of over $4,000 of Cash App deposits and
receipt of deposit of PPP Loan proceeds described
in Count 1 in the amount of $20,805

5

That LESLIE BETHEA had no
expenditures of over $500 for
the month of April 2021

Payment to Dolls Plastic Surgery in Aventura
Florida of $5,000 on April 22, 2021

6

That LESLIE BETHEA had not
travelled outside the Eastern
District of Tennessee during
April 2021 without permission

Travel to the state of Florida where LESLIE
BETHEA had elective cosmetic surgery at Dolls
Plastic Surgery on April 24, 2022, follow up
medical care at Dolls Plastic surgery on April 26,
2022, and stay at the Trump International Beach
Resort from April 24, 2022, through April 29,
2022

FACTS SUPPORTING CRIMINAL COMPLAINT:
This criminal complaint is based on these facts:
I, Thomas Whitehead, being duly sworn, state that the following information is true to the
best of my knowledge, information, and belief:
(1)

I have been employed by the United States Secret Service (USSS) as a Special Agent for

over 19 years. I am currently assigned as a Senior Special Agent in the Greeneville Domicile
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Office. Through my training and experience, I have conducted numerous investigations
involving counterfeit currency, identity theft, financial institution fraud, and access device
fraud. My duties include conducting and supervising criminal investigations regarding
counterfeit currency, identity theft, credit card fraud, financial institution fraud, access device
fraud, wire fraud, computer network intrusions, and multiple other forms of cybercrime. I have
conducted and pa1ticipated in investigations which have resulted in the arrest of individuals who
have manufactured, possessed, passed, sold, and distributed counterfeit credit/debit cards,
credit/debit card numbers, committed identity theft, and have conspired to do so. The following
facts are based on my training, experience, and information provided to me by fellow
investigators, my personal observations during the investigation, and my review of business
records (including medical records, hotel records, and banking records) and filed court
records. Because this Affidavit is being submitted for the limited purpose of establishing
probable cause for the issuance of a criminal complaint, I have not included every fact known to
me, but only those facts I believe are necessary to establish probable cause for the requested
criminal complaint. All statements of other persons described below are set out in substance and
in part, rather than verbatim.
(2)

As a result of my training and experience as a Special Agent for the United States Secret

Service, I am familiar with federal criminal law and know that it is a violation to obtain money
or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, through
transmission or causing to be transmitted by means of wire in interstate or foreign commerce,
any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or
artifice (18 U.S.C. § 1343); to engage in certain financial transactions with the proceeds of
subject unlawful activities for the purpose of promoting the unlawful activity or concealing the
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source of the proceeds from the unlawful activity (18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)), and to make false
statements in a matter within any branch, to include the judicial branch, of the United States
Government (18 U.S.C . § 1001).

Background Information:
(3)

On March 27, 2020, in response to the economic crisis caused by the novel coronavirus

pandemic, the President signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act
("CARES Act"). The CARES Act provided emergency assistance to small business owners,
including agricultural businesses, and nonprofit organizations in all states, the District of
Columbia, and territories affected by the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. The two sources
of funding for small businesses were the Paycheck Protection Program and the Economic Injury
Disaster Loans program.
(4)

Among other things, the CARES Act made billions of government-guaranteed loans

available to qualified small businesses through the Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP"). The
purpose of loans issued under the PPP was to enable small businesses suffering from the
economic downturn to continue to pay salaries or wages to their employees. The PPP was
administered by the SBA, which promulgated regulations concerning eligibility for a PPP loan.
Eligible businesses seeking a loan under the PPP could apply for such a loan through a federally
insured depository institution.
(5)

Q

A PPP loan application had to be processed by a participating lender. If a PPP loan

application was approved, the participating lender funded the PPP loan using its own monies,
and the PPP loan was I 00% guaranteed by the SBA.
(6)

To qualify for a loan under the PPP, an applicant had to meet certain criteria, including,
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among other things, that the applicant was "in operation on February 15, 2020, and either had
employees for whom [it] paid salaries and payroll taxes or paid independent contractors, as
reported on a "Form 1099-MISC." Moreover, the amount of the loan that could be approved
under the PPP and implementing regulations typically was a function of the applicant's historical
payroll costs, consisting of compensation to its employees whose principal place of residence
was the United States, subject to certain exclusions.
(7)

To apply for a PPP loan, businesses had to submit applications to SBA-approved lenders,

and these applications typically were submitted by electronic means. Forms required to be
submitted for approval included average monthly payroll costs (as well as proof of payroll: IRS
form 941, or IRS Schedule C for sole proprietors) and identifying documentation from the
individual applying. The SBA approved what lenders could disperse as PPP funds that were
backed by the SBA. The approved lenders were required to provide the SBA with all supporting
documentation submitted by an applicant.
(8)

The proceeds of a PPP loan could be used only for certain specified items, such as payroll

costs, costs related to the continuation of group health care benefits, mortgage interest payments
(but not mortgage prepayments or principal payments), rent payments, utility payments, interest
payments on debt obligations that were incurred before February 15, 2020, or for refinancing
certain specified SBA loans.
(9)

The proceeds of a PPP loan were not pennitted to be used by the borrowers to purchase

consumer goods, automobiles, personal residences, clothing, jewelry, to pay the borrower's
personal federal income taxes, or to fund the borrower's ordinary day-to-day living expenses
unrelated to the specified authorized expenses. Elective cosmetic surgical procedures were not
authorized expenditures for PPP loans.

9
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( 10)

At all relevant times, Knoxville TVA ECU was a financial institution insured by the

National Credit Union Association ("NCUA") with principal offices located in Knoxville,
Tennessee in the Eastern District of Tennessee. Therefore, Knoxville TVA ECU constitutes a
"financial institution" for purposes of 18 U.S.C. §§ 20 and 1343.
( 11)

On January 11, 2021, LESLIE BETHEA opened a share account with the Knoxville TVA

ECU with the issued member number ending in 5763 and the below listed member/owner
info1mation:
•

A date of birth of

1982 and a social security number and Tennessee

Drivers License number that law enforcement database queries show to have been
issued to LESLIE BETHEA.
•

A mailing address of
address of

•

, Surgoinsville, TN 37873 and a physical
, Kingsport, TN 37660.

A phone number of 423-967-3353 and an email of ellebethea(a),icloud.com. The
mailing address and phone number are the same as those listed on monthly
supervision reports that LESLIE BETHEA has filed with the United States Probation
Office in the Eastern District of Tennessee.

•
(12)

Bethea listed her employer as Buying Backing USA and her occupation as a CPA.

A monthly supervision report submitted to U.S. Probation Officer Robert Welch for the

month of February 2021 for LESLIE BETHEA showed the same cell phone number and email
address that LESLIE BETHEA listed on her Knoxville TVA ECU account application. On her
February 2021 monthly supervision report, LESLIE BETHEA stated that she was unemployed
and had filed for disability.
(13)

As part of my investigation, I have reviewed records produced from a lender servicing

10

Case 2:22-cr-00052-JRG-CRW Document 3 Filed 06/02/22 Page 11 of 15 PageID #: 14

company called Blue Acorn. Blue Acorn's business records show that on or about March 29,
2021, Bethea applied through Blue Acorn for a PPP Loan from Capital Plus Financial in the
amount of $20,805.00. The loan was approved. As pait of the loan application, Bethea listed the
same phone number, email address, social security number, and mailing address that she had
previously listed on her Knoxville TV A ECU application and her monthly supervision reports
with the United States Probation Office for the Eastern District of Tennessee. On the
application, LESLIE BETHEA stated that she was a sole proprietor of a marketing consulting
services business that grossed $99,865.00 a year. A query for LESLIE BETHEA's employment
with the Tennessee Depaitment of Labor showed no employment data for LESLIE BETHEA.
As part of the electronic application, LESLIE BETHEA submitted a copy of her issued
Tennessee driver's license ending in 5617 as proof of her identity.
(14)

The electronic application that LESLIE BETHEA submitted to Blue Acorn contained

additional false statements. These included the following:
•

LESLIE BETHEA fraudulently stated that within the last five years, she had not been
convicted, pied guilty to, or commenced any form of parole or probation for fraud. In
fact, LESLIE BETHEA pied guilty to and was convicted of conspiracy to commit wire
fraud and wire fraud on September 26, 2019, in the federal case styled, United States v.
Leslie Danielle Bethea, No. 2: l 8-CR-25 (E.D . Tenn.). LESLIE BETHEA was actively
serving a term of supervised release for that conviction at the time of the electronic
application.

•

LESLIE BETHEA submitted a false and fraudulent Internal Revenue Service Schedule C
for tax year 2019 showing that LESLIE BETHEA earned a profit of $90,621 as a sole
proprietor in marketing when, in truth and fact and as she well knew, LESLIE BETHEA
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did not earn a profit in that amount for tax year 2019.
(15)

Records obtained from Knoxville TVA ECU show that the PPP Loan LESLIE BETHEA

applied for was issued and $20,805 was deposited into LESLIE BETHEA' s Knoxville TV A
ECU account on April 15, 2021.
(16)

LESLIE BETHEA' s Knoxville TVA ECU monthly account statements for April and

May 2021 reflect financial transactions on April 22, 2021 , and April 24, 2021 , for $5,000.00 and
$500.00, respectively, to Dolls Plastic Surgery in Aventura, Florida. They reflect a financial
transaction on April 29, 2021 in the amount of $2,834.22 to Trump International Beach Resort in
Sunny Isles Beach, Florida.
(17)

I have reviewed records obtained from Dolls Plastic Surgery in Aventura, Florida. The

information shows that LESLIE BETHEA received elective cosmetic surgery services totaling
$5 ,500.00 in late April of 2021 , with listed office dates of April 24, 2021, April 25 , 2021 , April
26, 2021 , and April 29, 2021. LESLIE BETHEA used her Knoxville TVA ECU account to pay
these charges. LESLIE BETHEA provided her date of birth, her social security number, an
email (ellebethea@icloud.com) and her phone number (423-967-3353) on her patient forms.
The email and phone number matches the email and phone number used to apply for the PPP
Loan. A copy of a Tennessee Driver's License with the driver' s license number ending in 5617
issued to Leslie Bethea and bearing her photo was also provided in the records produced by
Dolls Plastic Surgery. LESLIE BETHEA listed Joe David Rogers as her caregiver and the
individual she would be released to after her medical procedure was complete. LESLIE
BETHEA listed Rogers as her father on the form and indicated that she would be staying at a
hotel located at 18001 Collins Ave.
(18)

According to information obtained from the Trump International Beach Resort, LESLIE
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BETHEA was a guest at the hotel from April 24, 2021, through April 29, 2021. LESLIE
BETHEA used her TN Driver's License at check in and paid for the stay with her Knoxville
TVA ECU debit card ending in 2052.
( 19)

As part of my investigation, I have reviewed the monthly supervision report LESLIE

BETHEA provided to the United States Probation Office for the month of April 2021. That
report shows that LESLIE BETHEA signed the report on May 5, 2021 , and the report was
received by the United States Probation Office in Greeneville, Tennessee on May 20, 2021. The
report contains a warning that any false statements may result in revocation of supervised release
and "5 years imprisonment, a $250,000 fine, or both (18 U.S.C. § 1001)."
(20)

The April 2021 supervision report submitted by LESLIE BETHEA includes a number of

false statements. For example, LESLIE BETHEA stated that her only monthly cash inflow for
April 2021 was $200 from her ex-husband. She failed to include the funds she received from the
PPP loan discussed above as well as over $4,000 in Cash App deposits to her Knoxville TV A
ECU account. LESLIE BETHEA also stated "none" when asked to identify any expenditures in
April 2021 that exceeded $500. She failed to disclose the funds she had paid to Dolls Plastic
Surgery and to the Trump International Beach Resort. Finally, LESLIE BETHEA stated that she
did not travel outside the district without pennission in April 2021 , even though she had travelled
to Florida to receive elective plastic surgery and stayed at a luxury hotel in Florida for five days
using proceeds from the fraudulently obtained PPP loan.
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I therefore have probable cause to believe that LESLIE BETHEA has committed the

;J;.

offenses outlined above.

Respectfully submitted, this,L,.Jday of ~

2.

ltl-,y~
Thomas Whitehead
Senior Special Agent, USSS
Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

Date:
AGIS
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